
 

 

222

Legal & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

Planning Agenda 
 
Wednesday, 27 March 2024 at 6.00 pm 
Council Chamber, Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, TN34 3UY.   
Please enter the building through the Contact Centre entrance via the seafront. 
 
For further information, please contact Democratic Services on 01424 451484 or email: 
democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk 
 
  Page No. 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

 
2.   Declarations of Interest 

 
 

 
3.   Minutes of previous meeting 28/02/24 

 
1 - 8 

 
4.   Notification of any additional urgent items 

 
 

 
5.   Planning Applications 

 
 

 
 (a)   66 Filsham Road, St Leonards-on-sea (HS/OA/23/00697) 9 - 30 
  E Meppem (Senior Planning Officer) 

 
  
HS/OA/23/00697 | Outline Planning Permission seeking approval for 
Access, Appearance and Scale for a proposed new 2 bed dwelling 
in the rear garden of No. 66 Filsham Road. Amended description. | 
66 Filsham Road, St Leonards-on-sea, TN38 0PA (hastings.gov.uk) 
 
 

 

 
6.   Planning Appeals and Delegated Decisions 31 - 32 
 

Public Document Pack

https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_120963
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_120963
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_120963
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_120963


This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING 
 

28 FEBRUARY 2024 
 

PC. 1 

 
 

Present: Councillors O'Callaghan (Chair), Beaver (Vice-Chair), Beaney, 
Cannan, Collins, Edwards, Evans, Sinden and Williams 
 
Officers: Eleanor Evans (Planning Service Manager), Paula Slinn (Planning 
Lawyer), Zoe Taylor (Planning Officer) 

 
 
6. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies received from Councillor Bacon 

  
 
7. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Councillor Item Interest 

Cllr Beaver all 

  

Personal – East Sussex 
County Councillor 

Cllr O’Callaghan 4a Personal – Has visited 7-
9 Langham Road as 
Mayor 

  
 
8. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 12/12/23  
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meetings held on 12th December 2023 be 
approved as a true record. 

  
 
9. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ADDITIONAL URGENT ITEMS  
 
None 
 
10. PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 
11. 7-9 LANGHAM ROAD, HASTINGS (HS/FA/23/00585)  
 

  
Proposal 

Variation of condition 1(hours of use) 
of Planning Permission 
HS/FA/21/00829 (Current approved 
hours 0930 ? 1630 hours, Monday to 
Saturday, with the exception of related 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING 
 

28 FEBRUARY 2024 
 

PC. 2 
 

office uses which can take place 
between 0800 ? 1800 hours, Monday 
to Saturday.) Hours proposed 08:00 to 
21:00 Monday to Friday and add 
Sundays from 09:00 to 18:00. 

Application No HS/FA/23/00585 

Conservation Area No 

Listed Building No 

Public Consultation Yes – 51 in support, 9 objecting 

  

The Planning Officer presented the application for a variation of condition 1(hours of 
use) of Planning Permission HS/FA/21/00829, there are no updates. 

Councillors were shown plans and photographs of the application site. 

The change of use is to allow for the additional session of up to 10 children on a 
Sunday and quiet sessions and workshops for young people and carers one or two 
evenings a week. A noise assessment has been submitted and reviewed by the 
EnvironmentalHealth and no objection. 

The Committee asked questions to the officer. 

Cllr Evans asked the Officer about concerns from residents regarding parking and how 
many users would be at a session. The Officer answered there would be a maximum 
of 10 children at each session. Cllr Evans asked if a survey regarding parking has 
taken place. The Officer answered there had not been a parking survey. The Planning 
Service Manager explained that issues regarding parking can be raised in debate. 

Councillors debated and requested an additional informative. 

The Planning Service Manager suggested an informative note number 5 
“The applicant is advised that an information pack should be provided to existing and 
future clients to set out a) that customer parking should be within the site only and not 
on the road, where possible and b) that the children's outside playspace should be 
carefully controlled including keeping noise levels to a minimum”. 

Councillor Beaver requested a slight change to the wording to include the words, 
where possible and subject to that change.   

Cllr Beaver proposed approval of the recommendation with the additional informative 
#5, seconded by Councillor Sinden. 

  

RESOLVED (Unanimously)   

Page 2



PLANNING 
 

28 FEBRUARY 2024 
 

PC. 3 
 

  
Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions: 
  
  
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission.  
  
2. The premises shall not be used except between the following hours:- 

  
Monday to Friday 08:00 - 21:00 
Saturday 08:00-18:00 
Sunday 09:00 -18:00 
  

  
3. The outside play areas, as shown in blue on drawing identified as Location 

Plan with Play Area, shall not be used by staff or clients from 16:30 onwards 
on a Monday to Saturday and shall not be used from 16:00 onwards on a 
Sunday.  
  

  
  
Reasons: 
  
1. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
  
2. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining and future residents. 
  
3. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining and future residents. 
  
  
Notes to the Applicant  
  
1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in 

enforcement action without further warning. 
  
2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings 

Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive 
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

  
3. The applicant is advised to erect signage informing visitors to arrive and leave 

the premises quietly, refraining from slamming car doors and the excessive 
idling of engines. 

  
4. 
  

Adverts or Signage displayed on or about the building may require 
Advertisment Consent under The Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. For more information on 
advertisments go to: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/advertisements 
  

Page 3

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/advertisements


PLANNING 
 

28 FEBRUARY 2024 
 

PC. 4 
 

5.       The applicant is advised that an information pack should be provided to  
existing and future clients to set out a) that customer parking should be within 
the site only and not on the road, where possible and b) that the children's 
outside playspace should be carefully controlled including keeping noise levels 
to a minimum. 

  
 
12. FLAT 2, 6 CORNWALLIS TERRACE, HASTINGS (HS/FA/23/00667)  
 

  
Proposal 

Replacement of 4 single glazed timber 
windows to double glazed UPVC 

Application No HS/FA/22/00667 

Conservation Area No 

Listed Building No 

Public Consultation Yes  

  

The Planning Officer presented the application for the replacement of 4 single glazed 
timber windows to double glazed UPVC and there are no updates. 

Councillors were shown plans and photographs of the application site. 

This is a Hastings Borough Council application on Hastings Borough Council owned 
land. The works are required because the existing windows are in poor condition with 
timber decay and deterioration. 

There were no questions for the Officer. 

Councillor Beaver proposed approval of the recommendation, seconded by Councillor 
Cannan. 

RESOLVED (Unanimously)   
  
Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions: 
  
  
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission.  
  
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
  
ES2135/23/01 REV A  

  
3. The materials to be used must match [as closely as possible, in type, colour and 

Page 4



PLANNING 
 

28 FEBRUARY 2024 
 

PC. 5 
 

texture] those listed in Materials Section of the application form.  
  
4. With the exception of internal works the building works required to carry out 

the development allowed by this permission must only be carried out within 
the following times:- 
  
08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday 
08.00 - 13.00 on Saturdays 
No working on Sundays or Public Holidays.  

  
  
Reasons: 
  
1. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
  
2. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  
3. To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of the amenities of 

the area. 
  
4. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining and future residents. 
  
  
Notes to the Applicant  
  
1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in 

enforcement action without further warning. 
  
2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings 

Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive 
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

  
  
 
13. FLAT 9, LAMORNA COURT, 32 DE CHAM ROAD, ST LEONARDS-ON-SEA 

(HS/FA/23/00897)  
 

  
Proposal 

Replacement of 2x timber framed 
windows with Upvc double glazed 
windows in white (amended 
description) 

Application No HS/FA/23/00897 

Conservation Area No 

Listed Building No 

Page 5



PLANNING 
 

28 FEBRUARY 2024 
 

PC. 6 
 

Public Consultation Yes  

  

The Planning Officer presented the application for replacement of 2x timber framed 
windows with Upvc double glazed windows in white Upvc, there were no updates. 

Councillors were shown plans and photographs of the application site.  

This is Hastings Borough Council application on Hastings Borough Council Land. The 
windows need replacing as they are in poor condition and the application proposes to 
replace these windows with Upvc casement windows that were replicate the opening 
of the existing windows. 

There were no questions for the Officer. 

Councillor Cannan proposed approval of the recommendation, seconded by Councillor 
Collins. 

RESOLVED (Unanimously)   

Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions: 
  
  
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission.  
  
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
  
ES2130/23/01 REV A  

  
3. The materials to be used must match [as closely as possible, in type, colour 

and texture] those listed in Materials Section of the application form.  
  
4. With the exception of internal works the building works required to carry out 

the development allowed by this permission must only be carried out within 
the following times:- 
  
08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday 
08.00 - 13.00 on Saturdays 
No working on Sundays or Public Holidays.  

  
  
Reasons: 
  
1. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
  
2. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  
3. To ensure that the finished development takes proper account of the 

Page 6



PLANNING 
 

28 FEBRUARY 2024 
 

PC. 7 
 

character of the surrounding area in its use of external materials in the 
interests of the amenity of the area.  

  
4. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining and future residents. 
  
  
Notes to the Applicant  
  
1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in 

enforcement action without further warning. 
  
2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings 

Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive 
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

  
 
14. PLANNING APPEALS AND DELEGATED DECISIONS  
 
The Committee noted the report and the continued hard work of the Planning 
department. 

Cllr Beaver asked why the appeal of130 Bohemia Road was allowed. The Planning 
Service Manager answered we must run with the decision. 

Cllr Edwards asked regarding 69 William Rd. The Planning Service Manager 
explained the application is going through the appeal process. 

  
 
 
 

(The Chair declared the meeting closed at. 6.30 pm) 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



66 Filsham Road
St Leonards-on-sea
TN38 0PA

Outline Planning Permission seeking approval for Access, Appearance
and Scale for a proposed new 2 bed dwelling in the rear garden of 
No. 66 Filsham Road. Amended description.

FILSHAM ROAD

CO
LLI

NS
WOOD

 DR
IVE

COLLINSTONE ROAD

CLOSE
MERRIMEDE

CYPRESS

1 to 6

31 to 52

4

1

51

88

63

56

59

5

69

66

83

55

56a

92

50

70

9

62

78

81

84

49
74

ESS

62

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2024]. OS [AC0000815183]

Mar 2024

HS/OA/23/00697
1:1,250

±

Planning Services Manager
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial 
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available. 
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form.  Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Date:
Scale:
Application No. 

0 10 20 30 40
Meters

Page 9

Agenda Item 5a



This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM NO: 5

Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 27 March 2024

Report from: Planning Services Manager

Application address: 66 Filsham Road, St Leonards-on-sea, TN38
0PA

Proposal: Outline Planning Permission seeking approval
for Access, Appearance and Scale for a
proposed new 2 bed dwelling in the rear
garden of No. 66 Filsham Road. Amended
description.

Application No: HS/OA/23/00697

Recommendation: Grant Outline Planning Permission

Ward: MAZE HILL 2018
Conservation Area: No
Listed Building: No

Applicant: Mr Green 66 Filsham Road St Leonards-on-Sea
East Sussex TN38 0PA

Public Consultation
Site notice: Yes
Press advertisement: No
Neighbour Letters: No
People objecting: 17
Petitions of objection received: 0
People in support: 2
Petitions of support received: 0
Neutral comments received: 0

Application status:  Not delegated - 5 or more letters of objection
received

1. Site and surrounding area
The site comprises the rear section of the residential garden of 66 Filsham Road, a large,
detached residential property with a large rear garden. There is a single storey attached
garage located to the side of the house which is to be demolished to provide access to the
rear of the site. To the rear of the site is 'The Cuts', a tree lined pedestrian walkway whichPage 11



runs along the rear boundary of the properties fronting onto Filsham Road and beyond this,
the properties in Collinswood Drive.

The surrounding area is predominantly residential with an eclectic mix of mainly detached
properties of various designs and sizes.

Constraints
Flooding Surface Water 1 in 1000
GCN District Licensing Scheme IRZ - Green
GCN District Licensing Scheme IRZ - Amber - rear boundary
Intermediate Pressure Pipeline 50m Buffer SGN
SSSI Impact Risk Zone

2. Proposed development
The application seeks Outline approval with some matter reserved for the erection of a single
storey, 2 bed dwelling in the rear garden of No. 66 Filsham Road. Matters in relation to
access, appearance and scale are included as part of this application with layout and
landscaping being reserved.

The application is supported by the following documents:
Arboricultural Report
Design and Access Statement
Preliminary Ecology Appraisal
Site Waste and Management Plan
SUDs Report

Relevant planning history
None

Background Information
This application has been submitted following pre-application advice. The scheme proposed
at pre-application stage was a larger, detached two storey dwelling with the first floor
incorporated into the roof space. The scheme at pre-application also had a larger footprint,
with additional hardstanding and parking and was positioned much closer to No.66 Filsham
Road. The scheme currently submitted is a much reduced development that has been
designed in response to the officer advice given at pre-application stage. 

National and local policies
Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014
Policy FA1 - Strategic Policy for Western Area
Policy SC1 - Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a Sustainable Way
Policy DS1 - New Housing Development
Policy SC7 - Flood Risk

Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan 2015
Policy LP1 - Considering planning applications
Policy DM1 - Design Principles
Policy DM3 - General Amenity
Policy DM4 - General Access
Policy DM5 - Ground Conditions
Policy H1 - Housing Density
Policy H2 - Housing Mix
Policy T3 - Sustainable Transport

Page 12



Revised Draft Local Plan (Regulation 18)
Policy SP2 - New and Affordable Housing
Policy SP6 - Protecting and Enhancing the Historic Environment
Policy SC1 - Key Design Principals
Policy SC2 -  Design - Housing Mix, Accessibility and Adaptability
Policy SC3 -  Sustainable Design
Policy SC8 - Biodiversity, Habitat Protection and Net Gain
Policy SC16 - Flood Risk 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Paragraph 8 sets out the three overarching objectives of the planning system in order to
achieve sustainable development. Those are: economic (by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth and
innovation); social (to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a
sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and
future generations; and by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe places, with accessible
services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities'
health, social and cultural well-being;); and environmental (to protect and enhance our
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, improving
biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating
and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy)

Paragraph 9 advises that plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account,
so they respond to the different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in
different areas.

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
For decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan

without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most

important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:
i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that the development plan is the starting point for
decision-making. Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development
plan, permission should not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take
decisions that depart from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material
considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should not be followed.

Paragraph 47 of the NPPF sets out that planning applications be determined in accordance
with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states, amongst other things, that decisions should promote and
support the development of under utilised land and buildings, especially if this would help
meet identified needs for housing where land supply is constrained and available sites could
be used more effectively.

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that Local planning authorities should take a positive
approach to applications for alternative uses of land which is currently developed but not

Page 13



allocated for a specific purpose in plans, where this would help to meet identified
development needs. In particular, they should support proposals to:
a) use retail and employment land for homes in areas of high housing demand, provided this

would not undermine key economic sectors or sites or the vitality and viability of town
centres, and would be compatible with other policies in this Framework; and

b) make more effective use of sites that provide community services such as schools and
hospitals, provided this maintains or improves the quality of service provision and access
to open space.

Paragraph 128 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should support development that
makes efficient use of land.

Paragraph 135 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
Function well;
Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
Are visually attractive in terms of

Layout
Architecture
Landscaping

Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to

Building types
Materials
Arrangement of streets

in order to create an attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit.
Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime
and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community
cohesion and resilience.

Paragraph 136 of the NPPF states that decisions should ensure new streets are tree lined,
that opportunities are taken to incorporate trees elsewhere in developments.

Paragraph 139 of the NPPF states that development that is not well designed should be
refused but that significant weight should be given to development that reflects local design
policies and government guidance on design and development of outstanding or innovative
design which promotes high levels of sustainability and raises the standard of design in the
area, provided they fit with the overall form and layout of their surroundings.

Paragraph 140 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is
not materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the
permitted scheme.

Paragraph 189 of the NPPF states that decisions should ensure a site is suitable for its
proposed use having regard to ground conditions and risks arising from land instability and
contamination.

Paragraph 190 of the NPPF sets out that where sites are affected by land stability or
contamination, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or
landowner.

Paragraph 191 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that new
Page 14



development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as
well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from
the development. In doing so they should: a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential
adverse impacts resulting from noise from new development - and avoid noise giving rise to
significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life; b) identify and protect tranquil
areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by noise and are prized for their
recreational and amenity value for this reason; and c) limit the impact of light pollution from
artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation.

Other policies/guidance
Homes and Community Agency (HCA) Urban design lessons: Housing layout and
neighbourhood quality- January 2014
East Sussex County Council - Minor Planning Application Guidance (2017)
The Department for Communities and Local Government Technical Guidance for Space
Standards (TGSS)
Designing Out Crime - Design and Technology Alliance against Crime.

3. Consultation comments
Borough Arboriculturalist - No objection, subject to conditions
Borough Refuse and Waste - No objections
Borough Environment and Natural Resources Manager (Ecology) - No comment received
NatureSpace - No likely impact on great crested newts or their habitats

4. Representations
In respect of this application site notices were displayed at the front of the site and to the rear
in Collinswood Drive. In response to these, 23 letters of objection from 19 persons were
received. 2 letters of support were also received.

Objection points
Over development
Out of character
Noise pollution
Air pollution
Contrary to deeds
Impact on privacy
Overlooking
Overbearing development
Noise during development
Impact on access during development
Impact on bus stop during development
Loss of trees
Trees should be re-inspected
Impact on mental health
Loss of habitat
Timing of statements
Land instability
Access for Emergency vehicles
Highway safety
Pedestrian safety
Impact on property value
Environmental impact of development

Page 15



Impact on ecology
Location of services
Size of garden
Sustainable design
Public notification
Drainage/flooding
Setting a precedent

Support points
Sustainable location
Trees are not protected
Housing crisis
Well thought out design
Good landscaping scheme
Not imposing
No overlooking

5. Determining issues

a) Principle
As detailed above this is an application for outline planning permission with some matters,
excluding access, appearance and scale, being reserved. The main consideration is,
therefore, the principle of the development. In determining the principle of the development, it
will be necessary to consider the impact on the character of the area, the impact upon
neighbouring residential amenities, parking and highway matters, impact on protected
species and ecological designations, impact on trees, flood risk and local ground conditions.

The plans show the dwelling as a single storey, detached unit with 2 bedrooms. The unit is
shown to have a single parking spaces to the front with a turning area and vehicle waiting
area within the wider site. The dwelling is boarded on all sides by soft landscaping and has a
good sized garden.

The site is in a sustainable location and the application is therefore in accordance with Policy
LP1 of the Hastings Local Plan - Development Management Plan 2015 in this respect and
acceptable in principle subject to other Local Plan policies.

b) 5 Year Housing Land Supply
As the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing supply at this time, the tilted balance of
NPPF paragraph 11d) is engaged. The recommendation is for approval and the need to
deliver housing adds further weight in favour of granting planning permission. 

c) Layout
The applicant has indicated that the layout and landscaping of the development are reserved
matters for consideration as part of a future application. The plans submitted are therefore
indicative in these respects, however, they do show detailing in relation to access,
appearance and Scale.

The site is approximately 563m² with the proposed new dwelling occupying 76.5m² of the
total site. The main portion of the site is roughly square in shape with the access drive
running between No.66 and No.64 Filsham Road. The site is bordered by residential
properties with a footpath to the rear know as 'The Cuts'.

Page 16



Areas of soft landscaping have been shown on the indicative layout plan which will aid in
softening the hard landscaping and built form of the development. It is however, suggested
that conditions (No.7, 8 & 9) be imposed, requiring a full, detailed and sufficiently robust
planting scheme to be submitted.

d) Impact on character and appearance of the area
Policy DM1 of the Hastings Development Management Plan requires that all proposals must
reach a good standard of design, which include efficient use of resources, and takes into
account, amongst other things, protecting and enhancing local character and shows an
appreciation of the surrounding neighbourhood's historic context, street patterns, plot layouts
and boundaries, block sizes and scale, height, massing and materials

The indicative layout plan shows the proposed dwelling would be located behind the
detached property at 56 Filsham Road at a lower ground level than the frontage property. As
a result of this, the new dwelling would not be readily discernible within the streetscape of
Filsham Road. In addition, the scale and design of the proposal would be subordinate to the
frontage dwelling which is considered appropriate and constitutes good design for this type of
back land development.  Overall, it is considered that the proposal would not have an
unacceptable impact on the Filsham Road street scape.  

The proposal would be visible from the pedestrian walkway running along the rear boundary
of the application site. However, the dwelling would be set away from rear boundary of the
site and, being single storey would ensure the building would not appear overly prominent or
dominant from the pedestrian walkway.

The proposed form, appearance, scale and materials would be sensitive to this residential
back land location and would respond to the context of the site and surrounding residential
area. The proposed house is considered to be acceptable from a design perspective and
takes cues from the nearby residential development at 56 Filsham Road also a back land
development.  The development would not appear out of keeping with the character of the
surrounding area as a result. 

66 Filsham Road has a large rear garden and it is considered that there is ample space
within the site to accommodate the proposed development. The indicative layout plans show
that the dwelling would be located a sufficient distance from the site boundaries and would fit
comfortably within the plot without appearing as a cramped form of development.

Overall, it is therefore considered that the proposed development would be in keeping with
other examples of back land development in the immediate area and would respond to the
local character and the context of application site in accordance with the aims and objectives
of the NPPF and policy DM1 of the Development Management Plan.

e) Future residential amenities
Internal Floorspace:
The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has produced Technical
Guidance for Space Standards (TGSS) in order to achieve a good living standard for future
users of proposed development. This document requires the that for a single storey, two
bedroom unit, a minimum of 61-70m² is required.

The proposed plans indicate that the unit would have an internal floor area of 75.6m² and as
such would be considered acceptable and meets the minimum for occupation by a maximum
of 4 persons.

The TGSS also stipulates the minimum size for individual bedrooms, being 11.5m² for a
Page 17



double and 7.5m² for a single. The bedrooms within the unit have been assessed and meet
the minimum requirements for doubles. As a result of this, it is considered that the proposed
units offer an acceptable level of internal living accommodation for future residents.

External Amenity Space:
Point (g) of Policy DM3 of the Hastings DM Plan states that appropriate levels of private
external space are included, especially for larger homes designed for family use (dwellings
with two or more bedrooms). In respect of proposed family dwellings the Council would
expect to see the provision of private garden space (normally at the rear), of at least 10
metres in length. The indicative plan submitted shows the garden to the rear of the unit
ranging in depth from 7.4-8.4 metres. While this does not meet the full 10 metres in depth,
the garden is over 19 metres in width and as such, is considered acceptable and sufficiently
sized for the scale of dwelling proposed.

f) Impact on neighbouring residential amenities
Policy DM3 of the Hastings Development Management Plan states that in order to achieve a
good living standard for future users of proposed development and its neighbours it should
be demonstrated that amenity has been considered and appropriate solutions have been
incorporated into schemes. This includes the use of the scale, form, height, mass, and
density of any building or buildings, to reduce or avoid any adverse impact on the amenity
(privacy, over shadowing, loss of daylight) of neighbouring properties.

The site is boarded by residential dwellings and gardens on three sides. No 64 Filsham Road
is the closest property to the proposed dwelling. The indicative layout plan demonstrates that
there would be a separation distance of 11 metres from the front elevation of the proposed
dwelling to the side elevation of No.64. This level of separation increases to 14.6 meters to
No.68 Filsham Road (proposed rear elevation to existing rear elevation). To the rear of the
site are the properties in Collinswood Drive, there is a separation distance of 16.6 metres to
75 Collinswood Drive, 20 metres to No.77 Collinswood Drive and 24 metres to No.79
Collinswood Drive. The properties in Collinswood Drive are also on a much lower ground
level to those on Filsham Road with only the roofs of these properties visible from within the
application site.

Due to the levels of separation, difference in land levels and scale, massing, height and
design of the proposed dwelling, noting that no accommodation is proposed in the roof, it is
considered that there would not be a detrimental impact in terms of loss of light, or
overshadowing to the neighbouring properties. Similarly, due to the design of the dwelling
and the level of separation, there would not be a detrimental impact in terms of loss of
privacy or an unacceptable level of overlooking. Condition 12 is attached which prevents the
introduction of an additional floor or windows including dormer window under permitted
development. 

It must be acknowledged that the outlook from the upper floor, rear windows of No.68 and
No.62 Filsham Road would change as a result of the development, however, this is not
considered to sufficiently detrimental to warrant refusal on this ground alone. No.64 Filsham
Road is itself single storey with no first floor windows that overlook the site. As such there
would not be a detrimental impact on the outlook from this property as the development
would be screened by a boundary fence and soft landscaping.

Concerns have been raised about noise and the impact from vehicles using the new
driveway that runs parallel to the side of No.64 Filsham Road. To address this, the applicant
intends to erect a new 1.8m close bordered acoustic fence along this boundary. A condition
(No.10) is to be imposed to secure the provision of this fence prior to occupation.  A further
condition (No.16) is also to be imposed to restrict alterations and extensions to the roof of the

Page 18



dwelling in the future.

Overall impact on residential amenities:
Taking the above in to account, while it is acknowledged that the layout plans submitted are
indicative and the final site layout will be formally assessed as part of the reserved matters, it
is considered that this site can be developed for residential purposes without detriment to the
amenities of the neighbouring properties. As such the proposal complies with Policy DM3 of
the Hastings Development Management Plan 2015.

g) Ecology
In respect of this application a preliminary Ecological appraisal, prepared by The Mayhew
Consultancy (Feb 2023), has been submitted. This report identifies that no additional
ecological surveys are required and that the proposal is unlikely to have any significant
adverse ecological impact on site or beyond the site boundaries. Mitigation measures have
been suggested in respect of breeding birds and Badgers, these are to be secured by way of
condition (No.6).

Biodiversity Net Gain 
Biodiversity net gain (BNG) is a way of creating and improving natural habitats. BNG makes
sure development has a measurably positive impact ('net gain') on biodiversity, compared to
what was there before development. Every grant of planning permission is deemed to have
been granted subject to a general biodiversity gain condition to secure the biodiversity gain
objective.  This objective is to deliver at least a 10% increase in relation to the
pre-development biodiversity value of the development granted permission.  This increase
can be achieved through onsite biodiversity gains, registered offsite biodiversity gains or
statutory biodiversity credits. The 10% in biodiversity value is secured through a
pre-commencement condition, which requires the submission of a Biodiversity Net Gain Plan
before development can commence.

The Biodiversity Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2023 sets out a list of
application types that are exempt or temporarily exempt from needing to create a biodiversity
net gain.
These exemptions are as follows:
a) De Minimis Exemptions -
" the development does not impact a priority habitat and
" site has less than 25 square metres of habitat that has biodiversity value greater than
zero; and less than 5 metres in length of linear habitat
b) Householder applications 
c) Biodiversity Net Gain Sites - development solely for the purpose of fulfilling, in whole
or in part, the biodiversity gain planning condition which applies in relation to another
development
d) Self-Build and Custom Build applications (not more than 9 dwellings on sites no larger
than 0.5ha and exclusively Self-Build and Custom Build housing.
e) Small Developments where the application is made or granted before 1st April 2024.
(Temporary exemption)
f) S73 applications where the original planning permission to which the section 73
planning permission was submitted before 1st January 2024
g) Retrospective planning permissions made under section 73A
* "small development" means development which is not major development within the
meaning of article 2(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management
Procedure) (England) Order 2015(a).

The development is classed as a 'small development' and as such the relevant legislation
regarding biodiversity net gain is not applicable in this instance. However, the Ecology report

Page 19



submitted identifies that the development can provide an opportunity to enhance or increase
biodiversity by way of a landscaping scheme which includes replacement trees. These
enhancements are considered acceptable and are secured by way of conditions (No. 6 & 9).

Impact on Great Crested Newts:
The majority of the site is within the Green IRZ, with a narrow strip along the rear boundary
of the site being in the Amber IRZ. The site is also more than 250m from a pond.

NatureSpace have been consulted in respect of Great Crested Newts and have advised that
there would be no likely impact on great crested newts or their habitats as a result of the
development. An informative (No.4) is however added should Great Crested Newts be found
on site at any stage of the development works.

h) Trees
An Arboricultural report (AR/126723), prepared by the Mayhew Consultancy has been
submitted. This report identifies that, when the site was surveyed in February 2023 there
were nine individual trees and one group of trees on site.

Of the trees identified at the time of the survey, all grade C with the exception of T6
(Hornbeam) which is grade B. To facilitate the development 7 trees and 1 group of trees
would be lost. Root protection measures are suggested to ensure no damage to the retained
trees during development phase.

It must be acknowledged that a large number of objections have been submitted in respect
of the loss of the existing trees along the boundary of the site and No.64 Filsham Road.
While these concerns are acknowledged, these trees are not protected by way of a Tree
Preservation Order and the site is not within a Conservation Area. As such, the applicant's
could remove these trees without requiring consent from the Council. It should also be noted
that, to address concerns raised by local residents regarding the loss of these trees, the
indicative landscaping plan shows new hedging and trees being planted in and around the
site. The Borough Arboricultural Officer has been consulted on the proposal and has raised
no objection, subject to the necessary mitigation measures and a landscaping scheme being
submitted. This is secured by way of conditions (No.6 & 9).

With regards to the concerns raised that the Arboricultural Report is invalid, due to the recent
high winds, clarification has been sought from the Tree Officer. He has advised that, had any
of the trees become obviously dangerous as a result of storm events, then a further
inspection of the trees that have become dangerous should be carried out and the report
amended where necessary. In this instance, the case officer visited the site on the 13th
November subsequent to the storm on the 1-2nd November. Trees on site did not appear to
have become dangerous as a result of the high winds, with no limbs hanging or trees being
uprooted etc. As such, it is considered that the trees remain in the condition as stated within
the tree report. Therefore, no further report is required.

Taking these factors in to account, it is considered that the development as shown on the
layout would not have a detrimental impact on the trees on site. The proposal therefore
complies with Policies HN8 of the Hastings Development Management Plan and EN3 of the
Hastings Planning Strategy.

i) Highway safety/parking
Vehicle Access and visibility :
The site will be accessed from Filsham Road which is subject to a 30mph speed limit at the
point of access. The development makes use of the existing access which provides good
visibility along Filsham Road in both directions.

Page 20



Trip Generation:
The applicant has not submitted a trip generation assessment as part of this application,
however, the proposed development is not considered to generate a significant level of trips,
and is unlikely to result in a significant impact on the local highway network.

Parking and turning:
The East Sussex County Council parking demand calculator demonstrates that the proposed
development requires 1 parking space. The indicative layout plan shows 1 parking spaces on
site for the new dwelling. The space meets the minimum of 2.5m x 5.0m and turning area
has also been shown, allowing vehicles to turn on-site so as to enter and egress in a forward
gear.  This is secured by condition No. 8.

Cycle Parking:
In accordance with the County Council's adopted parking standards, 2 cycle parking spaces
should be provided. These parking facilities need to be covered, secure and located
conveniently for users. A cycle store is shown on the indicative site plans, demonstrating that
this can be accommodated on site. As such the proposed cycle parking provision is
acceptable. This is secured by condition No. 14.

Accessibility:
The site is located on a well served bus route with regular services to Hastings, St Leonards
and the wider area making it sustainable in terms of non-car methods of transport.

Access for Emergency Vehicles:
In accordance with building regulation requirement B5 (2000) as indicated within Manual for
Streets, there should be a vehicle access for pump appliances within 45m of every dwelling
and a fire service vehicle (FSV) should not have to reverse more than 20m.

According to Manual for Streets a 3.7m carriage way is needed, however, this can be
reduced to 2.75 over short distances. The proposed dwelling is positioned approximately 34
metres from the highway and as such, is within the acceptable distance for emergency
service vehicles. The access to the dwelling is also of acceptable width to provide access
directly to the property. In light of this, it is considered that there is acceptable access for
emergency service vehicles.  It is however suggested that an informative be included in
respect of domestic sprinkler systems.

j) Drainage
Foul:
No formal details have been provided in relation to foul drainage, however, this is a matter
that can be secured by way of condition (No.12).

Surface Water:
In respect of surface water, permeable materials such as block pavers and paving are to be
used in the driveway, paths and patio areas of the site, reducing the surface water run-off on
site. It is also suggested that rainwater harvesting in the form of a water butt be included to
allow for use in the garden. These installations along with a comprehensive drainage scheme
are to be secured by way of condition (No.12).

k) Waste and Recycling
Policy DM3 of the Hastings Development Management Plan requires that there is adequate
space for storage of waste and the means for its removal. This includes provision for the
general management of recyclable materials.

Page 21



The indicative site layout plan submitted shows an area for the storage of bins approximately
14 metres from the highway. This storage area is in an accessible location and meets the
requirements of Part H of the Building Regulations. The Waste and Refuse Team have
reviewed the proposal and have raised no objections. A condition (No.14) is to be imposed to
secure the provision of the bin store prior to occupation of the dwelling.

l) Air quality and emissions
The proposed development does not fall within the screening checklist of the 'Air Quality and
Emission Mitigation Guidance for Sussex' 2021 produced by Sussex Air Quality Partnership.
Therefore no further information is required in respect of air quality.

Lighting
No external lighting is proposed and residential amenities are not harmfully affected. The
development will not give rise to ground or surface water pollutions. The development is
therefore in accordance with Policy DM6 of the Hastings Development Management Plan
(2015).

m) Environmental Impact Assessment
The National Planning Practice guidance (Paragraph: 017 Reference ID: 4-017-20170728)
states that "Projects which are described in the first column of Schedule 2 but which do not
exceed the relevant thresholds, or meet the criteria in the second column of the Schedule, or
are not at least partly in a sensitive area, are not Schedule 2 development."

This development is not within a sensitive area as defined by Regulation 2 (1) of the Town
and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and does not
exceed the thresholds of schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental
Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.

n) Sustainable construction
Policy SC3 of the Hastings Planning Strategy requires that all new developments must be
designed to incorporate appropriate climate change mitigation and adaptation measures.
These can include features such as green roofs and walls, sustainable drainage systems,
multi-functional green space, protecting and enhancing biodiversity, waste reduction and
recycling facilities, water efficiency, flood risk management, and the use of recycled materials
in new development.

The construction would be implemented in accordance with a site waste management plan,
which seeks to minimise as much construction waste as possible. It is also proposed to
minimise the travel distance of vehicles bringing materials to the site.

Materials such as permeable paving are proposed for the road, paths and parking areas so
that surface run-off is reduced. Rainwater harvesting is possible through the use of water
butts if required.

6. Conclusion
The site is located within a sustainable location with easy and frequent access to services
and as such the principle of residential development is acceptable. As the Council cannot
demonstrate a 5-year housing supply at this time, the tilted balance of NPPF paragraph 11d)
is engaged. The recommendation is for approval and the need to deliver housing adds
further weight in favour of granting planning permission. 

While an outline application, it is considered that the indicative plans show a development
that has been sympathetically designed following pre-application discussions and

Page 22



demonstrate that the proposal would assimilate well into existing development. The proposed
dwelling is considered to constitute a good standard of design in accordance with Policies
DM1 of the Hastings Development Management Plan 2015 and SC1 of the Hastings
Planning Strategy along with paragraph 135 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

The proposed development would provide an acceptable living environment for the future
occupants of the dwellings without adversely impacting on the amenities of neighbouring
residents.

The proposed vehicular access, car, cycle parking and waste storage arrangements are
considered to be acceptable and comply with local policies.

No protected trees would be lost, and no protected species will be harmed as a result of the
proposed development.

Given the above it is considered that the proposed development is in accordance with the
relevant policies of the NPFF and Local Plan as detailed herein. The proposal is considered
to comply with the Development Plan in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which states:-

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise".

The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

7. Recommendation

Grant Outline Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

1. No development shall start until details of the:

a) Landscaping
b) Layout

hereafter called "the reserved matters" have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Application for the
approval of the reserved matters shall be made within three years of the
date of this permission. The development shall accord with the approved
details.

2. Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in Condition 1
above, relating to layout and the soft and hard landscaping of the site, shall
be submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall be carried
out as approved.

3. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.

Page 23



4. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission, or before the
expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved
matters to be approved, whichever is the later.

5. The details referred to in the reserved matters to be submitted pursuant to
the requirements of Condition 1 above shall be based on the following
indicative drawing numbers:-
JG-10 A, JG-11 A, JG-12, JG-13, JG-14, JG-15 A, JG-16 A.

6. No development shall take place until the measures outlined in the
submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal dated February 2023 and the
Arboricultural Report (AR/126723) dated February 2023 prepared by The
Mayhew Consultancy Ltd have been fully implemented unless the
scheme(s), or programme(s) of measures contained within the reports is
otherwise first varied, by way of prior written approval from the Local
Planning Authority. 

7. The hard landscape details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above, shall
include full details of the following;

Details of the proposed materials for the new drive way, parking and
turning areas along with method for dealing with water run-off;
Means of enclosure/boundary treatment
Proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (eg
drainage, power, communications cables, pipelines etc. indicating lines,
manholes, supports etc.).

All hard-landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to occupation of any
part of the development or in accordance with a programme agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

8. The details submitted in pursuance of condition (1) above shall show car
parking and turning areas in accordance with the approved County Parking
Standards. The parking space shall be a minimum of 2.5m by 5m with an
extra 0.5m where a space abuts a wall and upon approval the areas shall be
provided, surfaced and drained in accordance with the approved details prior
to first occupation of the unit, and thereafter the areas shall be retained for
that use and shall not be used other than for the parking of motor vehicles.  

9. The soft landscaping details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above, shall
include the following;

A proposed soft landscaping and planting plan,
A schedule of trees, hedges and plants, noting species, plant sizes,
proposed numbers and densities (where appropriate) together with an
implementation programme;
Finished levels or contours;
Means of enclosure/boundary treatment
Proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (eg
drainage, power, communications cables, pipelines etc. indicating lines,

Page 24



manholes, supports etc.).

All soft and hard landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details and all planting seeding or turfing comprised in the
approved Soft Landscaping Scheme shall be carried out prior to the
occupation of any part of the development, or with the written agreement of
the Local Planning Authority, in the first planting and seeding seasons
following the occupation of any buildings or the completion of the
development, whichever is the sooner. 

If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree that
tree, or any tree planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted or
destroyed or dies, or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning
Authority, seriously damaged or defective, another tree of the same species
and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same location.

All trees produced abroad but purchased for transplanting shall spend at
least one full growing season on a UK nursery and be subjected to a pest
and disease control programme.  Evidence of this control programme,
together with an audit trail of when imported trees where needed and their
origin and how long they have been in the nursery will be supplied to the
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any tree planting. 

10. Prior  to occupation of the dwelling hereby approved, details of the 1.8m
acoustic fencing, shown on plan JG - 16 A are to be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted details
shall show the acoustic fence positioned on the side boundary that
separates the site and No. 64 Filsham Road and shall extend the full length
of the driveway leading to the bungalow, hereby approved. The acoustic
fence shall then be installed in accordance with the approved details on site
prior to occupation of the dwelling hereby approved. The acoustic fence
shall thereafter be and retained and maintained in a good condition for the
perpetuity of the development.  If the acoustic fence becomes damaged for
any reason, a replacement acoustic fence is to be installed to the same
specification. 

11. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above, shall include full
details of the materials to be used in the construction of the external
surfaces of the development. Thereafter development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details and the works shall be carried out
prior to first occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with
a programme agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

12. (i)  Prior to commencement of development details of the proposed means
of foul sewerage and surface water disposal/management must be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
designed system must take into account design standards of those
responsible for maintenance, including details of who will be responsible for
managing all aspects of the surface water drainage system, including piped
drains and evidence of how these responsibility arrangements will remain in
place throughout the lifetime of the development

(ii) Development shall be carried out in accordance with the details
approved under (i) and no occupation of the dwelling hereby approved shall

Page 25



occur until those works have been completed.

(iii)   No occupation of the dwelling hereby approved shall occur until the
Local Planning Authority has confirmed in writing that it is satisfied, that the
necessary drainage infrastructure capacity is now available to adequately
service the development.   

13. No demolition or construction shall start until a Method Statement has been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with
the approved method statement which shall include:

measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated by
construction and demolition works, including measures to prevent mud
on the highway;
a scheme for controlling noise and vibration from demolition and
construction activities [including details of any piling];
the arrangements for deliveries or collections from the site associated
with all demolition and construction works, loading/ unloading of plant &
materials and their storage and restoration of any damage to the highway
[including vehicle crossovers and grass verges].

14. Prior to occupation of the dwelling hereby approved areas for the storage of
bins and cycles are to be provided on site, with evidence being submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These areas are to
then be retained on site for the perpetuity of the development. 

15. Any bathroom windows in the dwelling hereby approved shall be obscure
glazed with obscure glass to a minimum level of obscurity equivalent to
Pilkington Texture Glass Level 3, or similar equivalent and be permanently
fixed shut and non-opening below 1.7 metres from finished floor level. The
dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied until the obscure glass is
installed, and once installed, the windows shall be permanently maintained
in that condition.   

16. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning [General
Permitted Development] Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting
that Order with or without modification), no extensions, roof extensions,
dormer windows, alterations or any other type of window to the building or
the roof of the premises, permitted by Classes AA, B & C of Part 1 of
Schedule 2 or AD of Part 20 of Schedule 2 of the Order shall be carried out
without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.  

17. Prior to the commencement of works above ground, details of appropriate
climate change mitigation and adaptation measures as required by Policy
SC3 and in accordance with the hierarchy of Policy SC4 of the Hastings
Planning Strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details. 

18. With the exception of internal works the building works required to carry out
the development allowed by this permission must only be carried out within
the following times:-

Page 26



08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday
08.00 - 13.00 on Saturdays
No working on Sundays or Public Holidays. 

19. (i) All development shall be stopped immediately in the event that
asbestos is found to be present on the development site and details of the
contamination shall be reported immediately in writing to the Local Planning
Authority.

(ii) Development shall be paused until a scientific analysis is carried out by
a professional Asbestos surveyor with details of any remediation/mitigation
for the safe removal and disposal of the asbestos being submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

(iii) The development shall not re-start until all necessary remedial works
are fully carried out, with confirmation of the completion of any
remediation/mitigation being submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  

Reasons:

1. The application is in outline only and to comply with Section 92 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. The application is in outline only.

3. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

4. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

5. In order to ensure a satisfactory access, site layout, scale, appearance to
the development in the interests of the visual amenities, character and
appearance of the locality and the amenities of the neighbouring occupiers.

6. To ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

7. In the interests of the visual amenity of the area.

8. In the interests of highway safety and for the benefit and convenience of the
public at large.

9. To ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

10. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining and future residents.

11. To ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

12. To ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

Page 27



13. To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the
character and amenity of the area.

14. To ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

15. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining and future residents.

16. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining and future residents.

17. To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the
character and amenity of the area.

18. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining and future residents.

19. To protect those redeveloping the site, future occupants and neighbouring
sites and occupants from potential contamination.

Notes to the Applicant

1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result
in enforcement action without further warning.

2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

3. The applicant is advised that they must ensure the proposed works, hereby
approved, do not contravene laws protecting wildlife including the
Countryside and Wildlife Act 1981. Where the applicant is in doubt they
should contact Natural England on wildlife@naturalengland.org.uk
Telephone 020 802 61089 or Environment and Natural Resources on
parks@hastings.gov.uk Telephone 01424 451107 prior to commencement
of any works.

4. The applicant is reminded that, under the Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981 (as amended), it is an offence to: deliberately capture, disturb,
injure or kill great crested newts; damage or destroy a breeding or resting
place; deliberately obstructing access to a resting or sheltering place.
Planning consent for a development does not provide a defence against
prosecution under these acts. Should great crested newts be found at any
stages of the development works, then all works should cease, and Natural
England should be contacted for advice. More details on the district licensing
scheme can be found at www.naturespaceuk.com. Contact details:
info@naturespaceuk.com.

5. Consideration should be given to the provision of a domestic sprinkler
system.

6. The applicant is advised that condition 16 relates to the bungalow approved
under this application only.

Page 28



_____________________________________________________________________

Officer to Contact
Mrs E Meppem, Telephone 01424 783288

Background Papers
Application No: HS/OA/23/00697 including all letters and documents

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item: 6 
 

 
Report to: 

 
Planning Committee 

 
Date: 

 
27 March 2024 

 
Report from: 

 
Planning Services Manager 

 
Title of report: PLANNING APPEALS & DELEGATED DECISIONS 

 

 
Purpose of report: 

 
To inform the Planning Committee of any planning appeals that 
have been lodged, of any decisions received from the Planning 
Inspectorate and the number of delegated decisions made 
between 09/02/2024 and 10/03/2024 
 

 
Recommendations: 

 
That the report be noted 

 
 
 
The following appeals have been received: 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
The following appeals have been allowed: 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
The following appeals have been dismissed: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Address/ 
Application 
Number 

Proposal PSM’s Rec Where the 
decision was 
made 

Type of 
Appeal 

1 St Matthews 
Gardens, 
St Leonards-on-
sea, 
TN38 0TS 
HS/FA/22/00418 

Proposed Erection of 
Double Garage 

Refuse 
Planning 
Permission 

DELEGATED Planning 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



The following appeals have been withdrawn: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Type of Delegated Decision Number of Decisions 
Granted Permission 40 
Part Granted 1 
Refused Permission 8 
Withdrawn by Applicant 3 
Total 52 
 
Report written by 
Julie Gidlow– Tel: (01424) 783260     
Email: planning@hastings.gov.uk 

Address/ 
Application 
Number 

Proposal PSM’s Rec Where the 
decision was 
made 

Type of 
Appeal 

48 St Marys 
Road, 
Hastings, 
TN34 3LW 
HS/PR/23/00741 

Application for a 
Certificate of 
proposed Lawful 
Development for a loft 
conversion including 
alteration of hipped 
roof to create a gable, 
5 x new rooflights 
(amended description) 

Refuse 
Planning 
Permission 

DELEGATED Planning 

Page 32


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting 28/02/24
	Minutes

	5a 66 Filsham Road, St Leonards-on-sea (HS/OA/23/00697)
	HS-OA-23-00697 66 Filsham Road

	6 Planning Appeals and Delegated Decisions

